RECEIVED

Jun 09 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CALVIN D. FORD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001912

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the circuit court err in allowing the lawyer for a witness whom Appellant wanted to call during the hearing on his request for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act to invoke the witness's privilege against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment where (1) the privilege is personal and must be invoked by the person to whom the privilege belongs, (2) there was no evidence that the witness would have invoked the privilege had he been asked, and (3) the evidence in the record showed the witness could not have invoked the privilege as his testimony was self-incriminating?

II. In the alternative, if this Court determines that the witness's statement was self-incriminating, did the circuit court err by refusing to permit defense counsel to call his investigator to testify to the contents of the statement pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, where the witness was unavailable due to the invocation of his privilege against self-incrimination, the witness's statement was corroborated by other testimony, and the cumulative nature of the witness's statement enhanced his probative value to render its exclusion not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

III. Did the circuit court err by failing to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on the elements of self-defense and the relevant statutory provision where Appellant sought immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act?

IV. Did the presiding judge err when he determined the Protection of Persons and Property Act "does not provide immunity from prosecution" for the crimes of possession of a firearm by a felon and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime?

V. In the alternative, if this Court determines the presiding judge's ruling on the question of immunity was sufficient, did the judge err in denying immunity from prosecution where the evidence demonstrated Appellant satisfied the elements of common law self-defense and the Act?

VI. Did the trial judge err by allowing the state to introduce a prior consistent statement of its star witness where there was no express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive because defense counsel simply impeached her with other prior inconsistent statements?

VII. In light of Appellant's sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for murder, did the trial judge's imposition of a five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime violate the plain language of section 16-23-490(A) of the South Carolina Code, which forbids such a sentence when the defendant is sentenced to life imprisonment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 22, 2017, an Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for the murder of Jamal Burgess (2017-GS-26-2914), the murder of Dameion Alston (2017-GS-26-2913), possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2017-GS-26-2915), and unlawful possession of a weapon by a person convicted of a violent crime (2017-GS-26-2912). R. 907 – 908; R. 910 – 911; R. 913 – 914. Appellant’s counsel, Jonny McCoy, filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 16-11-450 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. R. 879. On March 5, 2019, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson presided over a hearing on the motion. R. 1. McCoy represented Appellant, and Mary Ellen Walter and Joshua Holford represented the state. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Culbertson denied Appellant’s request for immunity. R. 195, ll. 7-20; R. 902.

On November 4-8, 2019, the state called Appellant to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. R. 196. Additionally, the state called Aliga Campbell, who had been charged with the same offenses under an accomplice liability theory, to trial. R. 196. Holford and Walter continued to represent the state, McCoy continued to represent Appellant, and Eric Fox represented Campbell. R. 196. After deliberating for approximately two hours, the jury requested to view the “timeline,” which had not been admitted into evidence, but used by the prosecution as a demonstrative aid. R. 873, l. 13 – R. 874, l. 16; Supp. R. 1. Further, the jury requested copies of the autopsy reports, which had not been admitted into evidence. R. 874, ll. 1-4; Supp. R. 2. The judge returned the jurors to the courtroom to permit them to view the timeline despite the fact that it was not admitted as an exhibit. R. 874, ll. 4-16. According to the judge, he could not send the timeline to the jury room because it was not admitted as an exhibit,

but he permitted the jurors to observe the timeline in the courtroom during their deliberations. R. 874, ll. 4-16.

The jury acquitted Campbell of all charges. R. 876, ll. 2-8. The jury acquitted Appellant of the murder of Alston. R. 876, ll. 9-11. However, the jury convicted Appellant of the murder of Burgess and the two weapons charges. R. 876, ll. 12-24. Judge Burch sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for murder. R. 878 ll. 17-19; R. 912. Further, he sentenced Appellant to five years imprisonment for each of the weapons convictions. R. 878, ll. 19-23; R. 909; R. 915.

On November 13, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in allowing the lawyer for a witness whom Appellant wanted to call during the hearing on his request for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act to invoke the witness's privilege against self-incrimination pursuant to the Fifth Amendment where (1) the privilege is personal and must be invoked by the person to whom the privilege belongs, (2) there was no evidence that the witness would have invoked the privilege had he been asked, and (3) the evidence in the record showed the witness could not have invoked the privilege as his testimony was not self-incriminating.

Standard of review

In a case reviewing a trial court's decision to hold a party in contempt for asserting his privilege against self-incrimination where the trial court determined the party's assertion was in error, this Court explained an appellate court would reverse a trial court's decision regarding contempt only if it were without evidentiary support or were an abuse of discretion. First Union Nat. Bank v. First Citizens Bank and Trust Co. of South Carolina, 346 S.C. 462, 466, 551 S.E.2d 301, 303 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing Stone v. Reddix-Smalls, 295 S.C. 514, 369 S.E.2d 840 (1988)).

Similarly, when reviewing whether an individual waived his privilege against self-incrimination when speaking with law enforcement, the appellate courts review the trial court's decision using an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996). Specifically, "[o]n appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be reviewed unless so erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion." Id. "When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, [the appellate court] does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence,

but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence." State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

Generally, in criminal cases, appellate courts review errors of law only and are bound by the trial court's findings of fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous. State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009). Thus, appellate review is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. Id. A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012).

Relevant facts

During the hearing on Appellant's request for immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, defense counsel called Aliga Campbell as a witness. R. 108, ll. 24-25. Attached to Appellant's motion for immunity was a sworn statement by Campbell. R. 879. On August 10, 2016, Campbell described how he and Jamal Burgess, the deceased, had a heated discussion prior to Appellant's arrival at the party where the fatal shooting later occurred. R. 879. Burgess admitted to Campbell that he knocked out Appellant's teeth on a prior occasion. R. 879. Pursuant to Burgess's request, Campbell called Appellant about his arrival at the party, but Appellant did not answer. R. 879. Minutes later, Appellant arrived, and Campbell told Appellant that Burgess wanted to talk to him. R. 879. When Appellant did not walk to Burgess, Burgess approached him. R. 879.

Campbell described Burgess as "whipping out his gun" "the whole time." R. 879. According to Campbell, when Burgess pushed Dameion Alston to the side, Alston's gun fell to the ground. R. 879. Burgess then "whipped out his gun, turned and fired." R. 879. Appellant picked up Alston's gun and "fired back at Burgess in self-defense." R. 879. Campbell was

clear, “Burgess fired first. It was self-defense.” R. 879. Campbell believed Burgess was going to kill Appellant. R. 879. “Burgess was waving the gun all around and shooting at everyone.” R. 879.

Finally, Campbell explained that the day before the shooting Burgess rode by his house where he and Appellant were outside. R. 879. Burgess saw the two men and pulled up his shirt to show them his gun in his waistband. R. 879. Campbell “took this as a threat and a warning against [Appellant] and anyone with [Appellant].” R. 879.

While the parties were waiting for Campbell to arrive in the courtroom from lock-up, Eric Fox, Mr. Campbell’s attorney, advised the presiding judge that although Campbell was not a defendant for purposes of the hearing on Appellant’s immunity request, Campbell was a co-defendant in the case. R. 109, ll. 7-8. Fox “advised and would advise Mr. Campbell again to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment not to give any testimony at all.” R. 109, ll. 10-13. According to Fox, Campbell was “still indicted in a double homicide that [was] still pending.” R. 109, ll. 13-14.

When the judge indicated he was not going to “compel him to testify,” defense counsel argued he did not think Fox objected to Campbell being called and that it was a “procedural matter.” R. 109, ll. 19-20. Fox then informed the presiding judge that he objected to Campbell testifying in any way. R. 109, ll. 21-24. Defense counsel explained that Campbell provided “a sworn statement and a written affidavit,” two weeks after the shooting and over a year prior to his arrest. R. 110, ll. 1-13. Further, defense counsel indicated that he wanted to call Campbell as a witness “for record sake” even if he wished “to plead the Fifth Amendment.” R. 110, ll. 14-15. The judge framed the question as whether defense counsel could call Campbell “as a witness over his attorney’s objection.” R. 111, ll. 1-3. Defense counsel explained that it was necessary

for Campbell to be called to the stand and assert his privilege if that is what he chose to do. R. 111, ll. 4-10. The judge questioned whether he would permit “Campbell take the stand to assert his Fifth Amendment right when his attorney says, no I’m invoking it now, he doesn’t take the stand.” R. 111, ll. 15-17. The judge noted defense counsel sought to call Campbell as a witness during “a motion hearing,” not “a criminal trial.” R. 111, ll. 17-18. The solicitor opined, “I actually don’t think it’s proper to call someone just to invoke their Fifth Amendment.” R. 111, ll. 20-21. In light of Fox’s invocation of the privilege for Campbell, the judge would not permit defense counsel to call Campbell as a witness. R. 110, ll. 17-21; R. 112, ll. 4-6; R. 116, ll. 11-20.

Discussion

No person “shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself.” U.S. Const. amend V.¹ “The essence of this basic constitutional principle is the requirement that the state which proposes to convict and punish an individual produce the evidence against him by the independent labor of its officers, not by the simple, cruel expedient of forcing it from his own lips.” Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 462 (1981); see also Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 444 (1972) (explaining the privilege “reflects a complex of our fundamental values and aspirations, and marks an important advance in the development of our liberty”).

Personal right

“The importance of preserving inviolate the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination has often been stated” by the Supreme Court of the United States. Couch v. United States, 409 U.S. 322, 327 (1973). “By its very nature, the privilege is an intimate and personal one.” Id. The Supreme Court held that it is an “elemental and established proposition that the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination is, by hypothesis, a personal one that can only be

¹ The South Carolina Constitution also provides for protection against compelled self-incrimination. S.C. Const. art. I, § 12.

invoked by the individual whose testimony is being compelled.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 433 n.4 (1986) (rejecting the notion that an attorney can invoke an individual’s privilege against self-incrimination).

The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that “[a] judge may not invoke a witness’s Fifth Amendment privilege.” State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 104-105 (1979). Further, the Court explained that “it is well settled that a witness who is not also a defendant can invoke that privilege only after the incriminating question has been put.” Id. at 550-551, 253 S.E.2d at 105. “[T]he privilege against self-incrimination is personal and may not be invoked by, or on behalf of, a third person.” State v. Hughes, 328 S.C. 146, 150, 493 S.E.2d 821, 822 (1997). The Court held it was error for a trial judge to permit a witness to claim his Fifth Amendment privilege before taking the stand. State v. Perry, 279 S.C. 539, 540, 309 S.E.2d 9, 10 (1983). In light of the prohibition on calling a witness solely for the sake of invoking his or her Fifth Amendment privilege, the Court explained a witness may invoke the privilege during an in camera hearing. Hughes, 328 S.C. at 153 n.4, 493 S.E.2d at 824 n.4.

Here, the presiding judge erred by allowing Campbell’s lawyer to invoke the privilege against self-incrimination on Campbell’s behalf. The privilege was personal to Campbell, and it could be invoked only by Campbell. Additionally, the language used by Campbell’s lawyer was illuminating and important for the analysis of this issue on appeal. The lawyer informed the judge that he “advised and would advise Mr. Campbell again to invoke his rights under the Fifth Amendment not to give any testimony at all.” R. 109, ll. 10-13. Simply, the lawyer related only what he had advised Campbell to do. He never informed the court that Campbell wanted to invoke the privilege. Thus, even if the law were to permit the lawyer to invoke the privilege on

Campbell's behalf based on some agency theory, there was no evidence in the record that Campbell actually wanted to invoke his right against self-incrimination.

Not self-incriminating

Furthermore, the record revealed that Campbell's testimony would not have been self-incriminating. Campbell's lawyer never indicated – or even suggested – that Campbell would testify differently from the statement he provided to Appellant's private investigator just weeks after the shooting. Campbell did not admit to any illegal conduct in the statement he provided.

The privilege is “accorded liberal construction in favor of the right it was intended to secure,” and may be claimed when a witness “has reasonable cause to apprehend danger from a direct answer.” Hoffman v. United States, 341 U.S. 479, 486 (1951). “The settled law provides that the privilege extends not only to answers that would themselves support a criminal conviction, but also to answers furnishing a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute an individual.” Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 659 S.E.2d 112 (2008) (citing Hoffman, 341 U.S. at 486); see also Maness v. Mayers, 419 U.S. 449, 461 (1975); United States v. Pardo, 636 F.2d 535, 544 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (explaining that “a witness does not lose his Fifth Amendment right to refuse to testify concerning other matters or transactions not included in his conviction or plea arrangement”).

“The privilege against self-incrimination, one of our most cherished fundamental rights, is jealously guarded by the courts.” North River Ins. Co., Inc. v. Stefanou, 831 F.2d 484, 486 (4th Cir. 1987). Examining the validity of the assertion of the privilege, the Sixth Circuit held a valid assertion “exists where a witness has reasonable cause to apprehend a real danger of incrimination.” In re Morganroth, 718 F.2d 161, 167 (6th Cir. 1983). “While the privilege is to be accorded liberal application, the court *may* order a witness to answer if it *clearly* appears that

he is mistaken as to the justification for the privilege in advancing his claim as a subterfuge.” Id. (emphasis added).

For a court to “overrule the claim of privilege, it must be [p]erfectly clear from a careful consideration of all the circumstances, that the witness is mistaken in the apprehension of self-incrimination and the answers demanded [c]annot possibly have such tendency.” Commonwealth v. Carrera, 227 A.2d 627, 629 (Pa. 1967). “[I]f the witness, upon interposing his claim, were required to prove the hazard [of self-incrimination] in the sense in which a claim is usually required to be established in court, he would be compelled to surrender the very protection which the privilege is designed to guarantee.” Hoffman, 341 U.S. at 486.

According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “[i]n determining whether the information is incriminating,” there are “at least two categories of potentially incriminating questions.” Grosshuesch, 377 S.C. at 23, 659 S.E.2d at 117. “First, there are questions whose incriminating nature is evident on the questions’ face in light of the question asked and the surrounding circumstances.” Id. at 23, 659 S.E.2d at 117-118. “Second, there are questions which though not overtly incriminating, can be shown to be incriminating through further contextual proof.” Id. at 23, 659 S.E.2d at 118. A court must answer “whether there is a reasonable possibility that requiring a party to answer a certain question would provide information that could be used against the party in a criminal proceeding or would lead to the discovery of such information.” Id. at 24, 659 S.E.2d at 118. “[T]he guiding principle in a self-incrimination inquiry is the objective reasonableness of a witness’s claimed fear of future prosecution.” Id. at 26, 659 S.E.2d at 119.

Campbell’s statement provided no self-incriminating information. Importantly, as will be discussed infra, the trial judge found the statement was not against Campbell’s penal interest

when he determined defense counsel could not call the investigator to testify to the contents of the statement pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE. At most, it was an admission that Campbell was present at the scene of a shooting. Merely being present at the scene of a crime is not incriminating – even under an accomplice liability theory. State v. Johnson, 291 S.C. 127, 129, 352 S.E.2d 480, 482 (1987). ““Mere presence at the scene is not sufficient to establish guilt as an aider or abettor.”” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 480, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (quoting State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 272 (1987)). It was incumbent upon the circuit court to determine whether requiring Campbell to answer certain questions would reveal incriminating information about Campbell. The judge erred by failing to pursue this undertaking.

II. In the alternative, if this Court determines that the witness's statement was self-incriminating, the circuit court erred by refusing to permit defense counsel to call his investigator to testify to the contents of the statement pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, where the witness was unavailable due to the invocation of his privilege against self-incrimination, the witness's statement was corroborated by other testimony, and the cumulative nature of the witness's statement enhanced his probative value to render its exclusion not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Standard of review

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