RECEIVED

Jun 14 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001912

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

CALVIN D. FORD,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101357

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, 15th Judicial Circuit

P.O. Drawer 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528
(843) 915-8608

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121-22, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001).

Here, the State sought to admit Gore's statements which had by that time become inconsistent with her cross-examination testimony, Rule 801(d)(1)(A), SCRE, and to rebut the concept imposed by Appellant's counsel that Gore fabricated or improperly collaborated with another State's eyewitness prior to testifying.

A. Gore's Testimonies

Appellant's cross-examination of Gore caused her to admit that she provided an inconsistent statement regarding Appellant's arrival at the party. In her recorded statement, Gore told investigators Appellant arrived in his white two-door car. (State's Ex. 61 at 6:53 to 7:10). At trial, Gore agreed that Appellant walked to the party "across 10th" Avenue, and also that she did not know "how he got there." (R. p. 619, line 15 – p. 620, line 8; R. p. 595, lines 13-25). On this point, Appellant's counsel did more than test Gore's memory. He hounded, "What's the truth?" (R. pp. 620, lines 15-25). Gore worked to defend her honor, testifying, "The truth is that [Appellant] shot [Burgess]. So some things [in my prior testimony] might have been wrong. I'm – I might have, might have not said something or I might have said something, but I was emotionally drained and I went through a lot." (R. p. 621, lines 1-6). Gore suggested counsel "better go with" the recorded statement because she gave

it the day after the shooting. (R. p. 620, lines 9-11). Counsel for Appellant did not play the statement.

Importantly, Appellant bookended his cross-examination by engaging Gore in a pair of exchanges to imply that Gore collaborated with friend and eyewitness, Felicia Williams, regarding the testimony they would offer on behalf of the State. First, counsel questioned Gore about whether she informed the State that she was friends with Williams. (R. p. 606, lines 5-10). Gore consistently answered that the State never asked her about Felicia. (R. p. 606, lines 7, 11). Appellant questioned Gore on the collateral matter of whether she considered Felicia her “best friend” or a “dear friend,” and whether she had posted that to her Facebook account. (R. p. 606, line 12 – p. 608, line 12). Gore classified Williams as a “friend.” (R. p. 526, lines 1-13). Later, Appellant questioned whether Gore “and Felicia Williams ever discussed [their] version of events[.]” (R. p. 618, line 25 – p. 619, line 2). Gore denied this and testified, “we’ve never gone over what we – what our testimonies if that’s what you’re getting at.” (R. p. 619, lines 3-12). Counsel persisted, asking whether she had “ever talked about what [she] saw that night[.]” (R. p. 619, line 13). Gore answered, “We have. Everybody has.” (R. p. 619, line 14).

Appellant also utilized a transcript of the immunity hearing to demonstrate that Gore’s testimony at that hearing was inconsistent with her recorded statement and with her trial testimony. At the immunity hearing, Gore testified that she saw Appellant *with* a gun and ran, not that she saw shots being fired. (R. p. 156, lines 8-11; R. p. 158, lines 1-4; R. p. 609, line 22 – p. 612, line 18). She also testified during the immunity hearing that she did not see Appellant retrieve the gun. (R. p. 157, lines 16-18). Yet Gore’s recorded statement, taken the day after the shooting, stated she “one hundred percent” saw Appellant shooting the gun and “the flash out the barrel” as shots were fired. (State’s Ex. 61 at 1:55 to 2:05 and at 5:17 to 5:35). At trial, as in her

recorded statement, but not as at the immunity hearing, Gore delivered testimony that she saw Appellant “take out a gun and fire it.” (R. p. 598, lines 3-19 (emphasis added)). Gore maintained on cross-examination at trial that she “first saw the gun being fired” and then “ran into [the] house.” (R. p. 609, line 24 – p. 610, line 1). Gore testified, “I saw [Appellant] take out a gun. It looked like he was about to fire towards [Burgess]. . . . He, he had a gun. Either way it went I seen him with a gun.” (R. p. 612, lines 1-18). She later testified during cross-examination that she “didn’t remember then but [she] remembered[ed] now” that she saw Appellant pull out a gun. (R. p. 618, lines 4-18).

Turning back to the recorded statement, Appellant tested Gore at an earlier point in her cross-examination by asking whether she remembered if she stated that Appellant came to the party to confront Burgess. (R. p. 615, lines 2-13; R. p. 616, lines 20-21). During Gore’s direct examination she testified, “From the outside looking in it seemed like whatever issues that they had that they were trying to resolve them, I didn’t hear anybody yelling or anything crazy.” (R. p. 600, line 25 – p. 601, line 2). Her recorded statement said it looked like Appellant “came over there to talk to [Burgess].” (State’s Ex. 61 at 3:20 to 3:30). Counsel for Appellant played the statement beginning at 3:33 on the recording. (R. p. 616, lines 17-21). Gore testified with a refreshed recollection that she told the interviewer, “I think he came over there to talk to him but I’m not a hundred percent sure.” (R. p. 616, line 24 – p. 617, line 1). Gore noted counsel’s re-characterization of the audio recording. She testified, “But you said I said he came over there to confront him. I said I think he came over there to talk to him[.]” (R. p. 616, line 24 – p. 617, line 1).

B. The Admissibility of the Recording on Redirect Examination

The trial court appropriately admitted the recording as a statement that proved

inconsistent with portions of Gore's immunity hearing testimony and cross-examination at trial. Rule 801(d)(1)(A), SCRE. Under Rule 106, SCRE, "[w]hen a writing, or recorded statement, or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction at that time of any other part or any other writing or recorded statement which ought in fairness to be considered contemporaneously with it." However, "[o]nly that portion of the remainder of a statement which explains or clarifies the previously admitted portion should be introduced." *State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 171, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998); *see also State v. Gay*, 343 S.C. 543, 550-51, 541 S.E.2d 541, 545 (2001) (trial judge properly redacted murder defendant's police statement to exclude references to individual with whom the victim lived because redacted portion did not explain or clarify the portion that was admitted and which outlined how defendant knew the victim, and the redacted material would be improper evidence of third party guilt). "Rule 106 is based on the rule of completeness and seeks to avoid the unfairness inherent in the misleading impression created by taking matters out of context." *State v. Cabrera-Pena*, 361 S.C. 372, 379, 605 S.E.2d 522, 525 (2004) (citing *State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. at 171, 508 S.E.2d at 875).

Pursuant to this rule of completeness, the State was permitted to introduce Gore's recorded statement to the extent it explained or clarified "all the testimony that's been given up to this point" about the contents of the recording. (R. p. 627, lines 8-13). When confronted, Gore testified to go with the statement she made three years ago: "I've gone over my, my statement that I made. Some things I refreshed on. I think that if you're going to point to anything you should point to three years ago because that would have been the, the most freshest of my memory." (R. p. 615, line 2 – p. 700, lines 17-23). Gore additionally asserted that counsel mischaracterized her statement about the reason Appellant came to the party. (R. p. 616, line 24

– p. 617, line 1). After defense counsel relied on the import of Gore’s prior statements, the rule of completeness required that the State be permitted to inquire into the full substance of the initial recorded statement on redirect examination for the purpose of clarifying just exactly what Gore said most contemporaneous to the shooting. *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 225-28, 625 S.E.2d 239, 242-44 (2006) (“On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited from Richardson that she believed the accuracy of her account of the murder to police was very important. . . . The defense put Richardson’s statement to police at issue, and fundamental fairness required the entire statement be admitted into evidence” during the State’s redirect examination).

Additionally, after establishing that Gore knew her friend Felicia Williams was also at the party, Appellant’s counsel charged Gore with fabrication or improper motive by questioning Gore about whether she had spoken with Felicia Williams about what their “version of events” would be. (R. p. 605, line 25 – p. 608, line 23; R. p. 609, line 25 – p. 619, line, 13). Gore answered during cross-examination that she and Williams had talked, and further that “[e]verybody ha[d]” talked about what they saw that night. (R. p. 619, lines 13-14). Thus, as the State argued, its purpose for admitting the remainder of the record was meant to address the alleged fabrication or improper motive interjected by counsel during cross-examination and was admissible pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE. *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 121-22, 551 S.E.2d at 244; *compare State v. Foster*, 354 S.C. 614, 623-24, 582 S.E.2d 426, 431 (2003) (finding witness’ prior consistent statement inadmissible to rehabilitate the witness when the cross-examining attorney only asked whether the witness had given a statement consistent with her testimony that day) (citing *Tome v. United States*, 513 U.S. 150, 157-58, 115 S.Ct. 696, 701 (1995) (“Rule [801(d)(1)(B)] speaks of a party rebutting an alleged motive, not bolstering the veracity of the story told.”)).

Of course, the statement the State sought to introduce must also “have been made prior the alleged fabrication, or prior to the existence of the alleged improper influence or motive.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. at 122, 551 S.E.2d at 244. As to this timing element, Gore’s recorded statement predates both courtroom testimonies. It was taken the day after the shooting and thus predates the context in which counsel interjected the alleged fabrication, improper influence, or motive for Gore to discuss her “version of events” with others. *State v. Nelson*, 380 S.C. at 231, 669 S.E.2d at 598 (consistent statement properly admitted to rebut alleged improper motive when the declarant’s “motive did not arise until after the statement was made”); *State v. Fulton*, 333 S.C. 359, 374, 509 S.E.2d 819, 827 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding prior consistent statement offered for rebutting express or implied charge of recent fabrication “must predate any alleged improper influence or motive”).

In at least one prior similar case, this Court has affirmed the circuit court’s admission of an entire prior consistent statement “made prior to any contact with the judicial system” after “defense counsel raised the issue of improper influence or ‘coaching’ by asking [the] Victim whether she ‘practiced’ before testifying and whether anyone had told her what to say.” *State v. Jeffcoat*, 350 S.C. 392, 397-98, 565 S.E.2d 321, 324-25 (Ct. App. 2002). The Court should similarly affirm the State’s redirect examination introduction of the statement in this case.

But even assuming error, harmless error applies. “No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

In *Saltz*, our supreme court noted that introduction of a prior consistent statement pursuant to Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE will not be harmless “merely because it is cumulative” because of the cumulative effect “has been held to “enhance[] the devastating impact of improper corroboration.” 346 S.C. at 124, 51 S.E.2d at 246. However, in *State v Jarrell*, this Court subsequently found that “concern is diminished” when the statement was “was cumulative to three other witnesses who testified almost identically.” 350 S.C. 90, 101, 564 S.E.2d 362, 368 (Ct. App. 2002). Here, like *Jarrell*, two other witnesses delivered testimony virtually indistinguishable from the contents of Gore’s recorded statement. In the statement, Gore says she saw Appellant and Burgess talking, that she began to hear yelling and determined they were arguing, and she saw Appellant shoot a gun. She only saw Appellant fire and saw sparks emitting from the gun. (State’s Ex. 61).

Darlene Young testified she was standing near the party when she saw Appellant arrive and engage in a conversation with Burgess. She heard Appellant and Burgess talking, but did not know what about. (R. p. 336, line 15 – p. 337, line 20). Young testified “[i]t didn’t look aggressive at all.” (R. p. 337, line 11). Young saw the second victim Damien Alston try to break them up. (R. p. 340, lines 2-19). She saw Burgess with his hands in the air and then she saw “fire come out of a gun and hit” Burgess. (R. p. 340, lines 14-24). Young testified Appellant drew a gun from one of his pockets. She did not see Appellant bend down to the ground. And she did not see either victim pull out a gun. (R. p. 341, lines 3-25). Young’s testimony is also substantially similar to that delivered by Felicia Williams. Williams saw Appellant, Burgess, and Alston standing together at the party. She was not paying them any attention until she heard a glass bottle drop. (R. p. 639, lines 2-25). She turned to see the three men talking in the road. She saw Alston “in the middle” and she saw Burgess “take his arm and move [Alston] out the way.”

(R. p. 640, lines 7-16). Then Williams, like Young and Gore, saw Appellant “take the gun up off his side and pull it out and shoot.” (R. p. 640, lines 15-17). As an additional consideration, Appellant’s counsel played a portion of the statement to refresh Gore’s recollection during cross-examination. (R. p. 616, lines 17-21). At seven minutes and twenty-six seconds, Gore’s statement was fairly brief. (State’s Ex. 61).

With the recording being nearly identical to two other eyewitness testimonies, and with a portion of unknown length having already been admitted through cross-examination, the inclusion of the whole of State’s Exhibit 61 on redirect examination could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial.

V. Appellant’s five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime should be vacated because it was issued in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, but the conviction should be affirmed.

The jury found Appellant guilty of murder, unlawful possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent offense, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 876, lines 12-22). The court issued a life sentence for the murder conviction. (R. p. 912). The court then sentenced Appellant to five years for each weapons charge. (R. pp. 878, 909 and 915).

A conviction for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime carries a five year penalty “in addition to the punishment provided for the principal crime.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A). “This five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.” *Id.* South Carolina has defined murder as a violent crime. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60. The life sentence does not carry the possibility of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A).

Appellant should not have received a sentence for the weapons charge in addition to receipt of a life sentence without parole, and Respondent respectfully asks this Court to vacate the five-year sentence.³ *State v. Palmer*, 415 S.C. 502, 525, 783 S.E.2d 823, 835 (Ct. App. 2016) (affirming conviction and vacating illegal sentence for weapon charge where defendant also sentenced to life for murder). The conviction, however, should be affirmed for the remainder of the reasons reflected within this brief in response. *State v. Sledge*, 428 S.C. 40, 60, 832 S.E.2d 633, 644 (Ct. App. 2019) (affirming weapons and murder convictions but vacating improper sentence on weapons charge).

³ Appellant made no objection to the sentence for the weapons charge. (R. p. 878, line 17 – p. 879, line 5). Respondent, however, concedes that Applicant is entitled to the proper sentence regardless of the failure to preserve this issue for appellate review. *State v. Plumer*, Op. No. 5806 at 24 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 3, 2021) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 7 at 13).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.